Case No. S241057

### SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL 1 4 2017

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

## K.J., A MINOR, BY HER GUARDIAN AD LITEM, ERICK JIMENEZ,

Petitioner/Plaintiff, LUIS A. CARRILLO, Petitioner/Objector,

### LOS ANGELES UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT et al.,

Respondents.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. B269864 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC505356 (The Honorable William P. Barry)

## PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

### ISSUE PRESENTED

Does the Court of Appeal lack jurisdiction over an appeal from an order imposing sanctions on an attorney if the notice of appeal is brought in the name of the client rather than in the name of the attorney?

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The instant matter arises from a series of events that ultimately culminated in the trial court erroneously sanctioning an attorney, Mr. Luis A. Carrillo, \$16,111.00 in fees and costs related to a contempt hearing *after* the Court of Appeal in the related case *In re Luis Carrillo*, Appellate Case No. B267743 issued a temporary stay of the contempt order. Mr. Carrillo was the attorney for the minor plaintiff, K.J., in the underlying matter. Seeking to challenge the trial court's erroneous award of \$16,111.00 in fees and costs to the Los Angeles Unified School District ("LAUSD"), a notice of appeal was filed that maintained the same case name and caption as at the trial level. The notice of appeal also notified the LAUSD that the appeal was being made pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 904.1(a)(3)-(13), from a trial court order entered on December 1, 2015.

On appeal, the issues raised concerned only the \$16,111.00 in sanctions imposed by the trial court against Mr. Carrillo. Mr. Carrillo specifically argued that the trial court's award of fees and costs relating to his contempt proceeding was improper because the order was made in violation of the Court of Appeal's stay order, the sanctions were not authorized by the pertinent discovery statutes, and the order impermissibly awarded LAUSD fees and costs for expenses

that, at the time, LAUSD had not yet incurred. LAUSD argued that the case caption on the Notice of Appeal listed only K.J. as the appealing party, that K.J. lacked standing to bring the appeal on Mr. Carrillo's behalf, and LAUSD substantively responded to Mr. Carrillo's arguments concerning the trial court's order sanctioning Mr. Carrillo and awarding LAUSD \$16,111.00.

After the completion of briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeal issued its opinion on February 23, 2017, dismissing the appeal on the basis that it lacked jurisdiction to review the sanctions ruling because Mr. Carrillo, not K.J., was the aggrieved party, but was not the party listed on the notice of appeal. In doing so, the Court of Appeal ignored the fact that Mr. Carrillo had standing to appeal the trial court's order sanctioning him in the amount of \$16,111.00 in fees and costs, declined to liberally construe the notice of appeal to decide the case on its merits, and relied on two Court of Appeal opinions that contravene longstanding public policy that favors deciding appeals on their merits.

# I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS A. FACTS CONCERNING THE APPEALABLE TRIAL COURT ORDER

The underlying case commenced on April 9, 2013 and concerns K.J., a minor, and her allegations against Respondents for the sexual assault she suffered at an elementary school within the LAUSD. (Appellant's Appendix ["AA"] 000011.) As litigation progressed, the parties engaged in a discovery dispute regarding whether the minor could be interviewed about the sexual assault. Although K.J. had

previously described her sexual assault to a medical examiner and at three deposition sessions (AA000403-00404), LAUSD sought to subject K.J. to an independent medical examination ("IME") to again recount her sexual assault. (See AA000001.) The trial court eventually ruled that LAUSD could conduct the IME. Prior to the examination, Mr. Carrillo approached the medical examiner and requested that he be mindful of K.J.'s condition and limit his questions concerning the details of the sexual assault. (See AA0001117.) LAUSD characterized this interaction as Mr. Carrillo interfering with the IME. Mr. Carrillo's interaction with the medical examiner served as the basis for the trial court setting a contempt hearing against Mr. Carrillo. (See AA000358.)

On September 30, 2015, the trial court held a contempt hearing against Mr. Carrillo, wherein it found Mr. Carrillo in contempt of court for actions he believed were necessary to protect his client from suffering re-traumatization at the hands of LAUSD's expert independent medical examiner. (See AA000386.) LAUSD filed its motion for fees and costs on or about October 2, 2015. (See AA000362.) On October 13, 2015, the trial court entered an order sentencing Mr. Carrillo to 24 hours in jail and permitting LAUSD to apply for fees and costs it incurred related to the contempt hearing. (AA000387-000389.) Mr. Carrillo subsequently filed his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus with the California Court of Appeal in the related case *In re Luis Carrillo*, Appellate Case No. B267743, on October 23, 2015, challenging the trial court's finding of contempt and sentence of imprisonment. (See Request for Judicial Notice

["RJN"], Exhibit A.) On November 9, 2015, after Mr. Carrillo filed his Writ Petition challenging the trial court's October 13, 2015 Order, LAUSD filed a supplemental motion for fees and costs related to Mr. Carrillo's contempt proceeding pursuant to the trial court's same October 13, 2015 Order. (See AA000557.)

On October 26, 2015, the Court of Appeal, in Case No. B267743, issued an order temporarily staying the trial court's October 13, 2015 Order pending further order of the Court of Appeal. (See RJN, Exhibit B.) Notwithstanding that stay, the trial court held a hearing on and granted LAUSD's motion for fees and costs on December 1, 2015, awarding LAUSD \$16,111. (AA000978.) A portion of the fees and costs pertained to Mr. Carrillo's contempt hearing (see RT0027:28; RT0028:1-14; RT0029:20-22), and the trial court declared that "this particular decision will stand, in my view, regardless of what the appellate decision is" in *In re Luis Carrillo*, Appellate Case No. B267743. (RT0031:27-28.)

Eventually, on January 8, 2016, the Court of Appeal issued a *Palma* Notice<sup>2</sup> to the trial court in *In re Luis Carrillo*, Appellate Case No. B267743, explaining that the trial court could avoid the issuance of the Writ by vacating its October 13, 2015 Order. (See RJN, <u>Exhibit D</u>.) The trial court subsequently entered a new order on January 29, 2016, vacating its October 13, 2015 Order, which found Mr. Carrillo in contempt. (See RJN, <u>Exhibits E</u> and <u>F</u>.) However, according to the trial court, the December 1, 2015 Order awarding fees and costs—

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All references herein to the Request for Judicial Notice concern the RJN filed with the California Court of Appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Palma v. U.S. Industrial Fasteners, Inc. (1984) 36 Cal.3d 171.

which related to the contempt hearing—was still in effect. (RJN, Exhibits F.)

### B. FACTS CONCERNING MR. CARRILLO'S APPEAL

On January 26, 2016, a timely notice of appeal was filed pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 904.1, subdivision (a)(12), "[f]rom an order directing payment of monetary sanctions by a party or an attorney for a party if the amount exceeds five thousand dollars (\$5,000)." (AA000980.) The notice of appeal concerned the trial court's December 1, 2015 Order and retained the same case caption and party names of the underlying trial court case in which the sanctions order was issued. (See *ibid*.)

The Opening Brief was filed on May 12, 2016 and concerned only the \$16,111.00 sanction imposed by the trial court against Mr. Carrillo. (See generally Appellant's Opening Brief [hereinafter "AOB"].) Mr. Carrillo argued that the trial court's order sanctioning him and awarding LAUSD \$16,111.00 in fees and costs, some or all of which derived from the trial court's contempt hearing, was in violation of the Court of Appeal's temporary stay order in the related case In re Luis Carrillo, Appellate Case No. B267743, and, thus, void. (AOB at pp. 18-24.) Additionally, Mr. Carrillo argued that the trial court's award constituted an abuse of discretion because the fees and costs were associated with a contempt proceeding in which the court's finding of contempt was ultimately vacated (AOB at pp. 24-27), the sanctions were not authorized by the pertinent discovery statutes (AOB at pp. 27-29), and the order awarded LAUSD fees and costs for purported extra expenses that, at the time, LAUSD had not yet incurred. (AOB at pp. 29-32.)

LAUSD filed its Respondents' Brief on August 10, 2016.
Relying on *People v. Indiana Lumbermens Mutual Insurance*Company (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 1³ (hereinafter "Lumbermens"),
LAUSD argued that the appeal should be dismissed since the case caption on the notice of appeal listed K.J. as the appealing party and that K.J. lacked standing to bring the appeal on Mr. Carrillo's behalf.
(Respondents' Brief ["RB"] at pp. 5-7.) Notwithstanding, LAUSD also responded to Mr. Carrillo's arguments within the AOB, including the counterarguments that "the issuance of a writ by the courts of appeal does not automatically stay all proceedings in the trial court" (RB at pp. 10-12), that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in sanctioning Mr. Carrillo and awarding LAUSD \$16,111.00 (RB at pp. 13-17), and that the trial court's award was not based on its previous order finding Mr. Carrillo in contempt. (RB at pp. 18-19.)

Mr. Carrillo filed his Reply Brief on August 30, 2016. In pertinent part, Mr. Carrillo argued that LAUSD's reliance on *Lumbermens* was misplaced because it is factually distinguishable and because the Court of Appeal should interpret the notice of appeal liberally and resolve the appeal on its merits. (See Reply Brief at pp. 7-11.)

Oral argument took place on December 12, 2016 before
Division Three of the Second Appellate District for the Court of
Appeal, and the Court of Appeal filed its opinion dismissing Mr.
Carrillo's appeal on February 23, 2017. In its opinion, the Court of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Lumbermens was decided by the Court of Appeal for the Second Appellate District, Division Three, the same division the instant matter was heard.

Appeal noted that the notice of appeal listed only underlying plaintiff K.J. as the appellant. (COA Opn. at p. 7.) Relying on its decision in *Lumbermens* as controlling, the Court of Appeal reasoned that because "attorney Carrillo has not appealed" and "because K.J. was not sanctioned," the court "lack[s] jurisdiction to review the sanctions ruling." (*Id.* at p. 8.) In finding it was without jurisdiction to review the sanctions ruling, the Court of Appeal declined to liberally construe the notice of appeal and resolve the case on its merits, explaining that "the weight of authority counsels against stretching liberal construction requirements so far as to deem a notice of appeal to include an unnamed party." (*Id.* at p. 10.) As set forth below, this determination was made in error.

### II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"On review, the question of jurisdiction is, in essence, one of law" that is reviewed de novo. (See *Aquila, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2007) 148 Cal.App.4th 556, 568, citing *Dorel Industries, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 1267.)

### III. ARGUMENT

In its opinion, the Court of Appeal determined that it lacked jurisdiction to review Mr. Carrillo's appeal of the trial court's order imposing \$16,111.00 in sanctions against him. As set forth below, the Court of Appeal's determination was erroneous based on two grounds. First, the Court of Appeal had the authority to liberally construe the notice of appeal and deem the appeal to be that of Mr. Carrillo, and not K.J., where it is reasonably clear what was being appealed from

and where the respondent could not have been misled or prejudiced. Secondly, the Court of Appeal's decision contravenes California's strong policy of resolving appeals on their merits.

- A. THE COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT LACK
  JURISDICTION OVER AN APPEAL FROM AN ORDER
  IMPOSING SANCTIONS ON AN ATTORNEY IF THE
  NOTICE OF APPEAL IS BROUGHT IN THE NAME OF
  THE CLIENT RATHER THAN THE NAME OF THE
  ATTORNEY
  - 1. Legal Standard Regarding Standing to Appeal and Liberal Construction of the Notice of Appeal

It is well settled that an appeal may be taken only by those individuals who have standing to appeal. (Sabi v. Sterling (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 916, 947.) "Only a party who is aggrieved has standing to appeal." (Ibid.) "A party is aggrieved only if its 'rights or interests are injuriously affected by the judgment." (Ibid., citing County of Alameda v. Carleson (1971) 5 Cal.3d 730, 737.) An attorney against whom a trial court has imposed monetary sanctions is an aggrieved party who has standing to appeal the sanctions order. (See Imuta v. Nakano (1991) 233 Cal.App.3d 1570, 1581, 1585.)

"A party seeking to appeal must file a notice of appeal within 60 days after [the party] is served with a notice of entry of either a judgment or an appealable order, or within 180 days after entry of judgment, whichever is earlier." (Bourhis v. Lord (2013) 56 Cal.4th 320, 330 (dis. opn. of Kennard, J.).) A notice of appeal "is sufficient if it identifies the particular judgment or order being appealed." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.100, subd. (a)(1).) Further, the "notice of appeal must be construed liberally" (ibid., emphasis added), and such construction is appropriate where "it is reasonably clear what

appellant was trying to appeal from, and where the respondent could not possibly have been misled or prejudiced." (*Critzer v. Enos* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1242, 1249, citing *Luz v. Lopes* (1960) 55 Cal.2d 54, 59; see *Internat. Assn. of Firefighters Local Union 230 v. City of San Jose* (2011) 195 Cal.App.4th 1179, 1194, fn. 4.)

2. The Court of Appeal Has Jurisdiction Over an Appeal Under the Circumstances of the Instant Case Through the Doctrine of Liberal Construction

As explained below, case law supports a finding that the Court of Appeal has jurisdiction over an appeal of an order imposing sanctions on an attorney where the notice of appeal omits the sanctioned attorney's name. The Court of Appeal must liberally construe the notice of appeal, and should have done so in the instant matter because it was clear what Mr. Carrillo tried to appeal from and Respondents could not have been misled or prejudiced.

a. Legal Precedent Establishing that the Court of Appeal May Liberally Construe a Notice of Appeal to Include an Omitted Party and Exercise Jurisdiction Over the Appeal

In California, at least two published Court of Appeal opinions aptly demonstrate the application of the doctrine of liberal construction to a notice of appeal wherein a sanctioned attorney's name was omitted—*Kane v. Hurley* (1994) 30 Cal.App.4th 859 (hereinafter "*Kane*") and *Eichenbaum v. Alon* (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 967 (hereinafter "*Eichenbaum*"). As these cases demonstrate, by liberally construing the notice of appeal, an appellate court has jurisdiction over an appeal from an order imposing sanctions on an attorney where the notice of appeal is brought in the name of the client rather than the name of the attorney.

Kane, supra, 30 Cal.App.4th 859 concerned an attorney, Jonathan Cole, who represented another attorney, Jack Willis, in relation to a trial court's coram nobis writ review of an order imposing sanctions against Willis.<sup>4</sup> (See id. at pp. 860-861.) During the course of the writ proceeding, Cole had filed a request for judicial notice and was eventually sanctioned by the trial court; the trial court found that the attorney's request for judicial notice was without merit and made for the purpose of bringing inadmissible information to the attention of the court. (Id. at p. 861.) The trial court ordered Cole to pay sanctions in the amount of \$1,500. (Id.) Consequently, Cole appealed; however, "[t]he notice of appeal was filed by [Cole] on behalf of Attorney Willis." (Id. at p. 861, fn. 4.) Rather than dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction, the *Kane* Court "liberally construe[d] the notice to include appellant [Cole]," while noting that it would be a better practice for the sanctioned attorney to file a separate notice of appeal. (*Id.*)

Likewise, *Eichenbaum*, *supra*, 106 Cal.App.4th 967 concerned a trial court's order imposing sanctions against a plaintiff and the plaintiff's attorney.<sup>5</sup> (*Id.* at pp. 972-973.) The plaintiff appealed,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Jonathan Cole is referred to as the appellant in the Court of Appeal's opinion in *Kane*. For clarity, Cole and Willis are referred to using their names rather than their similar titles as attorneys.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In its opinion, the Court of Appeal rejected Mr. Carrillo's reliance on *Eichenbaum*, *supra*, 106 Cal.App.4th 967, reasoning that the case is distinguishable because, there, the appeal of the sanction award "was ordered jointly against both the client and the attorney," whereas the sanctions in the instant case were levied only against Mr. Carrillo. (COA Opn. at p. 10, fn. 5.) The Court of Appeal, however, did not explain the materiality of this difference or how it "stretch[es] the

naming only the plaintiff, and not his counsel, as the appellant on the notice of appeal. (*Id.* at p. 974.) On appeal, the respondent contended that "because the notice of appeal named as appellant only plaintiff, not his counsel, [the Court of Appeal] lack[s] jurisdiction to review the sanctions order insofar as it applies to counsel." (*Id.*) Rejecting this argument, the Court of Appeal for the Second Appellate District found it appropriate to apply the doctrine of liberal construction to the notice of appeal, and deemed the notice of appeal that named only the plaintiff to also include the plaintiff's attorney. (*Id.*, citing *Kane*, *supra*, 30 Cal.App.4th at p. 861, fn. 4.)

In a similar vein, this Court has also previously liberally construed a notice of appeal to include the name of an aggrieved party whose name was omitted from the notice of appeal in *Chung Sing v. Southern Pac. Co.* (1918) 178 Cal. 261 (hereinafter "*Chung Sing*"). *Chung Sing* concerned a respondent's motion to dismiss an appeal with respect to one of the three appellants, Geo. W. Blackburn, on the basis that no notice of appeal was filed on Blackburn's behalf. (*Id.* at p. 262.) The notice of appeal had correctly listed the other two appellants, Southern Pacific Company and H.W. Crumrine, but also incorrectly inserted the name C.A. Burton, who was not a party to any proceedings, in lieu of Blackburn by mistake and inadvertence. (*Id.*) Despite the omission of Blackburn's name from the notice of appeal, this Court concluded that a notice of appeal was filed on his behalf

liberal construction requirement so far as to deem a notice of appeal to include an unnamed party" (*id.* at p. 10), considering that the attorney in *Eichenbaum* was also an unnamed party. (See *Eichenbaum*, *supra*, 106 Cal.App.4th at p. 974.)

within the time allotted by law. (*Id.* at p. 263.) In so finding, this Court reasoned:

The verdict and judgment in the cause were against the Southern Pacific Company, Geo. W. Blackburn, and H. W. Crumrine only, all of whom were represented in the action by the same attorneys. There was no verdict or judgment against any one named Burton. The notice of appeal also refers to an order of the superior court made and entered September 12, 1916, granting in part and denying in part 'said defendants' motion for new trial.' The record shows that said motion was made by the Southern Pacific Company, H. W. Crumrine, and Geo. W. Blackburn only, and that no one named Burton was involved therein. It also refers to the order of March 30, 1917, reducing the judgment from \$18,000 to \$13,000, which the record shows was an order making such reduction in favor of the company, Blackburn, and Crumrine only, and declaring that the judgment should be for \$13,000 and costs as against each of them. No one named Burton was involved therein. An undertaking on appeal filed on the day the notice of appeal was served states that the appeal is by defendants Southern Pacific Company, Geo. W. Blackburn, and H. W. Crumrine. It seems perfectly apparent from the notice, when read in connection with the record, that such notice was filed on behalf of the three defendants against whom the judgment runs, and that the use of the name 'C. A. Burton' instead of 'George W. Blackburn' to designate one of the appellants was solely due to inadvertence—a mere clerical misprision. One of the three defendants against whom the judgment runs and on whose behalf it was desired to appeal was designated as 'C. A. Burton' instead of 'George W. Blackburn.' The record demonstrates this, and the adverse party could not have been misled thereby. Under these circumstances we are satisfied it should not be held that no notice of appeal was filed by Blackburn.

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