AUG 1 4 2017

Case No. S241057 IN THE SUPREME COURT — OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

K.J., A MINOR, BY HER GUARDIAN AD LITEM, ERICK JIMINEZ, PETITIONER/PLAINTIFF

LUIS A. CARRILLO Petitioner/Objector

v.

LOS ANGELES UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, et al Respondents

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. B269864 Los Angeles Superior Court, Case No. BC505356 (The Hon. William P. Barry)

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

COLEMAN AND ASSOCIATES

JOHN M. COLEMAN, ESQ. SBN 79602 1111 S. ARROYO PARKWAY, Suite 442 Pasadena, California 91105 BRUCE T. MCINTOSH, ESQ. 1055 E. Colorado Blvd., #500 Pasadena, Ca. 91106

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

Respondent also contends that the rule of liberal construction of notices of appeal should not have been applied to save the original appeal in this case, and that there is no conflict between the cases cited by petitioner and those relied upon by the Court of Appeal below.

Finally, the Court of Appeal's decision below should be affirmed, as the Court fully considered Mr. Carrillo's arguments regarding the rule of liberal construction, and instead unanimously chose to uphold the legal principle of <u>stare decisis</u>, relying on a case that the exact same division of the Second District –Division Three --decided two years earlier, the case of <u>People v. Indiana Lumbermens Mutual Insurance Company</u> (2014) 226 Cal. App. 4th 1, a case whose facts are exactly the same as in Mr. Carrillo's case.

It should be noted that petitioner in his Petition for Review has raised the purported existence of issue of a conflict between the "majority view" and the "minority view" of different

courts of appeal regarding the application of the rule of liberal construction. Petition for Review, pp. 10-14

However, that issue was raised only in Petitioner's Petition for Review, but is not mentioned or discussed in Petitioner's Opening Brief on the Merits.

In any event, respondent contends that it is simply a non-issue, as the cases cited and discussed by petitioner may all be explained and harmonized, without offense to the rule of liberal construction.

A close analysis of all of the cases cited by the Appellant in the Petition for Review and in his Opening Brief, will show a very regular and systematic (albeit often unexpressed) rationale for deciding whether or not to construe notices of appeals to include parties who were not originally appellants in those cases.

Nothing in petitioner's Opening Brief, or in the facts of his case itself, warrant a reversal of the decision of the Court of Appeal.

1. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As previously found by the Court of Appeal in its Opinion below, the operative and relevant facts on this Petition for Review are as follows (all references are to the Court of Appeal Opinion filed February 23, 2017 ("Opinion"):

The record on appeal does not contain a copy of the complaint, but there is no dispute that the originally named Plaintiff, K.J., filed a negligence complaint against the Respondent. (Opinion, fn. 1)

On July 15, 2015, the trial court denied Plaintiff's motion for a protective order and

ordered Plaintiff to submit to a neuropsychiatric examination. The trial court declined to impose limitations on the scope of that examination. Opinion, pg. 2.

During the examination Mr. Carillo allegedly sought to impose limitations on the examination, and the examination was not completed. Opinion, pg. 3.

Thereafter Respondent brought a ex parte application for monetary, issue and terminating sanctions against petitioner Mr. Carrillo.

After considering all of the papers involved in that dispute, the trial court issued to Mr. Carillo an order to show cause (OSC) why he should not be adjudged guilty of contempt, for a willful violation of the trial court's earlier order regarding the examination. Opinion, pg. 3.

On September 30, 2015, an evidentiary hearing was held, and Mr. Carillo was found guilty of contempt. He was later sentenced to 24 hours in jail and a \$750.00 fine. Opinion, pg. 4.

On October 13, 2015, the trial court issued a written order finding Mr. Carillo guilty of contempt, for deliberate, willful, and premeditated disobedience of its prior order regarding the examination.

Ten days later, on October 23, 2015, Mr. Carillo challenged that order by filing a petition for a writ of habeas corpus with the Court of Appeal, which resulted in the Court of Appeal issuing a stay order on October 26, 2015.

The petition for a writ of habeas corpus was filed by Mr. Carillo only, the "party aggrieved" by the trial court's contempt order, and not by the Plaintiff, K.J. (Emphasis added). Opinion, pg. 4.

On November 9, 2015, Respondent Los Angeles Unified School District ("LAUSD")

filed a supplemental motion for discovery sanctions in the trial court, and on November 19, 2015, the trial court granted that motion in part, "ordering Mr. Carillo <u>and his law firm, jointly and severally</u>", to pay to LAUSD fees and costs of \$16,111. (Emphasis added) Opinion, pg. 4-5.

The formal written order of the trial court confirming the amount of the sanctions was issued on December 1, 2015, and stated that the order for payment was directed against both "Luis A. Carillo, individually, and/or the Law Offices of Luis A. Carillo, jointly and severally." Opinion, pg. 6.

Following the issuance of a <u>Palma</u> notice by the Court of Appeal, on January 29, 2016, the trial court vacated its October 13, 2015 order of contempt, and found Mr. Carillo not guilty thereof. Opinion, pg. 6.

However, the trial court did not reverse or change its December 1, 2015 order, awarding sanctions of \$16,111.00 to Respondent. Opinion, pg. 6.

On January 26, 2016, Plaintiff K.J. only filed a notice of appeal, pursuant to <u>Code of Civil</u> Procedure Section 904.1, subd. (a)(12). Opinion, pg. 7.

Neither Mr. Carillo nor the Law Offices of Luis A. Carillo were named as appellants in that original appeal.

The Law Offices of Luis A. Carillo is still not named as an appellant in this case.

2. THE ANSWER TO THE ISSUE DIRECTLY PRESENTED IN MR.

CARILLO'S OPENING BRIEF – DID THE COURT OF APPEAL LACK

JURISDICTION TO DECIDE MR. CARILLO'S APPEAL? – IS CLEARLY "YES".

In its Opinion, below, the Court of Appeal addressed this issue directly. In its DISCUSSION, at page 8, it clearly stated the law, the applicable facts, and its ruling as follows:

"Code of Civil Procedure Section 904.1(a)(12) provides that an appeal may be taken from 'an order directing payment of monetary sanctions by a party or an attorney for a party if the amount exceeds five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00)' (citations omitted). However, because K.J. was not sanctioned, and attorney Carrillo has not appealed, we lack jurisdiction to review the sanctions ruling. (People v. Indiana Lumbermens Mutual Ins. Co. (2014) 2256 Cal. App. 4th 1, 10 . . ."

The action of the Court of Appeal action could not have been more clearly explained: Mr. Carrillo did not file a timely appeal, and because he did not, the Court of Appeal had no jurisdiction to consider his arguments or to grant him any relief.

3. THE REAL ISSUE RAISED BY MR. CARILLO'S APPEAL – SHOULD

THE RULE OF LIBERAL CONSTRUCTION OF NOTICES OF APPEAL

HAVE BEEN APPLIED IN THIS CASE – MUST BE ANSWERED IN THE

NEGATIVE.

Despite the Court of Appeal's dismissal of Mr. Carrillo's appeal, the Court below did consider Mr. Carillo's real argument. That argument, made both before the Court of Appeal and on this Petition, is that the Court of Appeal should have considered <u>and granted</u> his request that it use the rule of "liberal construction" of notices of appeal to "save" his appeal, and consider

the trial court's award of sanctions on the merits.

This the Court of Appeal below correctly declined to do.

Respondent submits that they declined to do so for a number of reasons beyond its reliance

on its own recent decision in the case of <u>People v. Indiana Lumbermens Mutual</u> case.

See discussion, <u>infra</u>, re the role of stare decisis in the Court of Appeal's decision.

Respondents submit that some of those reasons were obvious and were discussed in the Opinion, while others were not necessary to the decision but played (and play) a part in why the Court of Appeal decision below should be affirmed

First, the sole appealable issue--the sanctions order of the trial court --was Mr. Carillo's issue alone, and not a "commingled issue" that included an issue that was of interest to or affected the only named appellant, the Plaintiff K.J.

See Court of Appeal discussion at page 10 of its Opinion.

Second, and perhaps more importantly, the Court of Appeal declined to exercise its discretion in liberally constructing the notice of appeal in question because it believed:

"... in our opinion, the weight of authority counsels against stretching the liberal construction requirement so far as to deem a notice of appeal to include an unnamed party." (Emphasis added); Opinion, pg. 10.

To state the matter somewhat differently, it is one thing to liberally construe a notice of

appeal when determining (a) exactly what the appealable order or judgment is before the Court of Appeal, or (b) the exact scope of the issues that must be determined on the appeal.

But it is a far different matter to liberally construe a notice of appeal to consider the arguments and to award relief to a party who has simply not appealed at all.

This is especially true when the undisputed facts in the case show that there is only one and can only be one appellant with the right to appeal, because only one party is the "aggrieved party."

There is additional indirect support for this conclusion in the language of California Rules of Court, Rule 8.100, subd. (a) (1), where the rule of liberal construction is found.

That section states, in pertinent part:

"(a) Notice of appeal

- (1) To appeal from a superior court judgment or an appealable order of a superior court, . . . an appellant must serve and file a notice of appeal in that superior court. The appellant or the appellant's attorney must sign the notice. (Emphasis added)
- (2) The notice of appeal must be liberally construed. The notice is sufficient if it identifies the particular judgment or order being appealed. The notice need not specify the court to which the appeal is taken . . ."

Pursuant to subsection (1), it is clearly the obligation of the appellant or the appellant's attorney to file a timely notice of appeal that names the proper appellant. Only after a proper notice of appeal has been filed, by a proper appellant – an "aggrieved party" – is the notice of appeal to be liberally constructed.

Following the statement of the rule of liberal construction, two examples of liberal construction are given in subsection 2 of the rule.

One is "positive" and one is "negative":

- (1) The notice is sufficient if it identifies the particular judgment or order being appealed from (a positive statement); and
- (2) A failure to specify the court to which the appeal is taken is not a defect (a negative statement).

Respondent submits that if the Judicial Council, authors of the California Rules of Court, wished to expand the rule of liberal construction to grant to the courts the right to consider the rights of non-parties to the appeal, they could have made that clear, but they have chosen not to do so.

Respondent further submits that they have not done so because of the pre-condition to the application of the rule – that an "aggrieved party" must have appealed. Sabi v. Sterling (2010) 183 Cal. App. 4th 916, 947.

That requirement may not be altered by the rule of liberal construction, as the Court of Appeal so stated in its Opinion, at page 10, <u>supra</u>.

4. THERE IS NO CONFLICT IN THIS CASE BETWEEN THE CASES CITED

BY APPELLANT. WHICH APPLIED THE DOCTRINE OF LIBERAL

CONSTRUCTION, AND THE CASES CITED WHICH DID NOT APPLY THE

DOCTRINE OF LIBERAL CONSTRUCTION. THE DIFFERENCE IN THE

CASES LIES IN THE UNDERLYING FACTS OF EACH CASE.

As noted, above, in his Petition for Review, Petitioner raised a claim that certain "minority courts" are not properly applying the rule of liberal construction.

However, a careful analysis of the facts in each of the cases cited by Appellant, reveals either a fact pattern or legal principle that explains the different results in the cases.

Simply stated, in the cases in which claims of a non-appellant <u>were allowed</u> to be decided, there was another valid and proper appellant who also had issues that had to be determined by the Court of Appeal, or there was an issue of importance to the legal community that needed to be addressed.

In those cases where the claims of a non-appellant were not decided because the Court of Appeal determined that it lacked jurisdiction, the only "aggrieved party" before the Court was the party who had failed to file a notice of appeal in their own name.

The cases cited by petitioner as the "majority cases" are the following:

Kane v. Hurley (1994) 30 Cal. App. 4th 859;

Eichenbaum v. Alon (2003) 106 Cal. App. 4th 867;

<u>Critzer v. Enos (</u>2010) 187 Cal. App. 4th 1242

Moyal v. Lamphear 208 Cal. App. 3d. 491

Chung Sing v. Southern Pac. Co (1918) 178 Cal. 261

(This list includes cases cited in Petitioner's Petition for Review as well as Petitioner's

Opening Brief on the Merits)

The Majority Cases

In each of the "majority cases", there was an additional appellant whose issues had to be decided by the Court of Appeal or an important issue of statutory interpretation that needed to be resolved.

1. In the case of <u>Kane</u>, like this case, the appeal was in the name of Fred Kane, but the true appellant was attorney Jack R. Willis. The Court of Appeal allowed Mr. Willis to be part of the case because Willis was ordered to pay sanctions to the trial court, and the Court of Appeal determined as a matter of first impression that Code of Civil Procedure 128.5 did not permit the trial court to receive such a payment. <u>Kane</u>, at 30 Cal. App. 4th 864.

In short, <u>Kane</u> was a case of first impression which the Court of Appeal decided to interpret the new statute in question.

Mr. Carrillo's case involved no such question of statutory interpretation.

2. In the case of <u>Eichenbaum</u>, <u>supra</u>, (as noted in footnote 5 of the Court of Appeal's decision), the sanction award was against both the client and the attorney, so that the client's appeal would have to be considered in any event.

That is not the case here.

3. In <u>Critzer v. Enos</u>, the issue regarding appealability involved not the issue of <u>who</u> was appealing, but the issue of <u>what</u> was the operative order the appellants were trying to appeal from. <u>Critzer</u>, 187 Cal. App. 4th 1242.

[Respondent submits that the only reason that this case has been cited by petitioner is because of the fact that the underlying order in <u>Critzer</u> contained the wrong caption and was filed in a related case in which no motion was pending. That unusual fact pattern allows petitioner in this case to argue that because the same facts exist an incorrect caption exist, the same result

should occur. However, the error in the caption of the appeals in both cases is not relevant to the Court's ultimate decision in Critzer.

Unlike <u>Critzer</u>, there is no question in this case as to which order of the trial court is being appealed from.

4. Moyal v. Lamphear 208 Cal. App. 3d. 491

The Court of Appeal in this case disposed of <u>Moyal</u> by noting, at page 10-11 of its Opinion, that both the Plaintiff and the attorney appealed in <u>Moyal</u> appealed, whereas in this case Mr.

Carrillo did not, and Mr. Carrillo was the only party aggrieved by the trial court's ruling below.

Again, the court would have had to determine the Plaintiff's appeal in resolving Moyal.

5 Petitioner devotes almost three pages of its Petition for Review to the case of <u>Chung</u>
Sing v. Southern Pac. Co (1918) 178 Cal. 261, a case decided almost a century ago.

The clear finding of the Supreme Court in that case was that one of the three true appellants—George W. Blackburn- was referred to by a completely different name—C.A. Burton- in the appellate proceedings. It was, as the court stated, done through "inadvertence—a mere clerical misprison."

Chung Sing, supra, at 178 Cal. 263-264.

No such "clerical misprision" exists here.

And again, there were two other appellants in that case who were properly before the Court\

of Appeal, and whose appeals would have to be resolved.

The Minority Cases

The cases cited by petitioner as the "minority cases" are the following

People v. Indiana Lumbermens Mutual Insurance Company (2014) 226 Cal. App. 4th 1 and

Calhoun v. Vallejo City Unified School District (1993) 20 Cal. App. 4th 39

1. The first is <u>People v. Indiana Lumbermens Mutual Ins. Co.</u> (2014) 226 Cal. App. 4th. 1, a case decided by the very same division of the Court of Appeal that heard the underlying appeal in this case, and the case it relied upon to determine that it lacked jurisdiction to hear Mr. Carrillo's appeal. Opinion, pp. 9-10.

In that case appellant Indiana contended that the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to enter summary judgment on a bail bond during the pendency of the appeal from the order denying Indiana's motion to vacate forfeiture, and that the trial court improperly imposed monetary sanctions on its counsel, Mr. Rorabaugh, for his improper Request for Judicial Notice.

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